## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC09-780

### RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DIRECT APPEAL FROM A 3.851 DENIAL

DAVID D. HENDRY Florida Bar No.0160016 Assistant CCRC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FLORIDA 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Johnston's postconviction motion filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ray Lamar Johnston was tried and convicted for the first degree murder of Leanne Coryell in the year 1999 and was sentenced to death. Tracy Neshell Robinson, the jury foreperson who signed the verdict form finding Mr. Johnston guilty (see the signed verdict form at Vol. V R 753-754), did not deliberate at the penalty phase for several reasons. First of all, she was arrested on the eve of the penalty phase closing arguments for various drug and weapons charges, including possession of crack cocaine, possession of burning marijuana, possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony, and for an outstanding capias related to a prior criminal case issued January 13, 1999 (see the capias for juror Robinson at Vol. V R 787). Because Tracy Robinson did not disclose her own prior criminal case when directly questioned during voir dire, and because it was not discovered until after her arrest mid-penalty phase that she had an active capias for her arrest at the time of voir dire, she was permitted to serve on the jury.

Had Ms. Robinson been forthcoming and disclosed her own prior arrest, it most likely would have been revealed that she had an active *capias* related to that prior criminal case, and she more than likely would not have been permitted to serve on the jury. Instead, after concealing material information concerning her own arrest during *voir dire*, she served on the

jury as the foreperson and signed the guilt phase verdict form. Then she was arrested for drug possession on the eve of the penalty phase closing arguments.

On direct appeal from the murder conviction and death sentence, this Court ruled that the issue of juror nondisclosure had not been specifically raised in the trial court, and stated that "[the] issue should be addressed in a rule 3.850 motion-not on direct appeal." Johnston v. State, 841 So. 2d 349, 357 (Fla. 2003). This Court noted that "Appellate counsel concede[d]" that this issue was not specifically raised in the trial court. Id. at 357. With that concession, this issue was not addressed by this Court on direct appeal.

The postconviction evidentiary hearing in this matter followed, and was held from January 28 - February 1, 2008, and March 6-7, 2008. The instant appeal follows the Order denying Mr. Johnston's 3.851 Motion to vacate his conviction and death sentence signed February 5, 2009 (*see* the final Order denying relief at Vol. XVI PCR 3102 - Vol. XVII PCR 3238).

The Appellant submits that although the lower court's order indeed is quite detailed, as will be illustrated by this brief, the order is perplexingly detailed with cites to and acknowledgment of evidence which supports the grant of relief.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

**ARGUMENT I** - A new trial should be awarded for egregious juror misconduct in this case. Trial counsel was ineffective at the trial level for failing to raise the specific issue of juror nondisclosure for foreperson Tracy Robinson's evasive and untruthful responses answers during *voir dire*. At the very least, this case should be remanded for a juror interview to determine if she was influenced by outside influences. A juror interview should be conducted to see if she will admit that she knew there was a *capias* for her arrest during the trial, and to see if she was smoking crack cocaine or marijuana at the time of serving as foreperson of the jury.

**ARGUMENT II** - Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress the *Miranda*-violative statements in this case. The Appellant was in custody at the time he was led into the interrogation room by law enforcement and made statements concerning his relationship with the victim. Law enforcement's advisement of his rights 30 minutes into the interview violated *Miranda v. Arizona* (1966) and *Missouri v. Seibert* (2004).

**ARGUMENT III -** Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview and call witness Diane Busch, a witness who could have testified that Mr. Johnston was not having financial problems at the time this crime was committed, and that he passed on an opportunity to steal \$10,000 cash from her while she was in the

hospital. In addition to discrediting financial motive in this case, Ms. Busch could have provided penalty phase testimony that Mr. Johnston provided medical care for her, assisted with family care issues, and actually saved her life. Trial counsel was also ineffective for failing to present the expert testimony of like Dr. Simon Cole, discrediting the science of someone fingerprinting; the lower court erred in failing to accept his expert testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Additionally, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present available prescribed psychotropic mitigation including the use of medications.

**ARGUMENT IV** - Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct individual and sequestered *voir dire* of members of the jury panel who were exposed to news reports detailing "Johnston's criminal history and early releases, his purported proclivities for violence against women, and statements from some of Johnston's own family that they believed Johnston was guilty." Johnston v. State, 841 So. 2d 349, 358 (Fla. 2003).

**ARGUMENT V** - The lower court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on the issue of trial counsel's legally insufficient motion to disqualify the trial judge. The Appellant was denied due process of law and access to the courts in violation of the Constitution.

**ARGUMENT VI -** The sum of cumulative errors here warrants relief.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should apply de novo review as per *Stephens v*. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 2000).

#### ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT GUILT PHASE RELIEF BASED ON JUROR MISCONDUCT AND NONDISCLOSURE DURING VOIR DIRE. MR. JOHNSTON DID NOT RECEIVE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, VIOLATING HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND HIS CORRESPONDING RIGHTS UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO QUESTION JUROR ROBINSON ABOUT HER RESPONSES ON THE JUROR QUESTIONNAIRE AND FAILED TO INCLUDE THE CLAIM OF DELIBERATE FAILURE TO DISCLOSE IN THE POST-TRIAL AMENDED MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.

The relevant facts underlying this claim were summarized by

this Court on direct appeal as follows:

On June 7, 1999, [juror Tracy] Robinson appeared in court for jury selection in the instant case. On the juror questionnaire, Robinson indicated that either she or somebody close to her was previously accused of a crime. During voir dire, the prosecutor requested that she elaborate on her answer:

MR. PRUNER: "...These jury forms ask very broad questions and, of course, this is where we're getting into that area where I'm not trying to embarrass anyone or intimidate anyone, but it asks, have you or any member of your family or any close friends ever been accused of a crime. That's what I want to go into now. I want to ask who was the person, what relationship was it to you; if it wasn't you, whether you felt that that person, whether it was you or someone else, was treated fairly in the process, and whether you think that incident or experience would prevent you from being a fair and impartial juror..."

MR. PRUNER: Ms. Robinson, who was that person?

MS. ROBINSON: My son's father.

MR. PRUNER: Okay. Did you follow along with that person's involvement in the criminal justice system, keep up with his case?

MS. ROBINSON: Oh, yeah.

MR. PRUNER: Was this in Hillsborough?

MS. ROBINSON: Uh-huh.

MR. PRUNER: Did you have an opinion whether that person was treated fairly or unfairly? MS. ROBINSON: It was fair.

MR. PRUNER: Is there anything about your knowledge of his experience that would prevent you from being a fair and impartial juror?

MS. ROBINSON: No.

MR. PRUNER: Thank you.

Defense counsel did not question Robinson any further as to her response to this line of questioning, telling the potential jurors, "Since [the prosecutor has] already asked you many of [the] things I might have asked, I won't ask you to repeat yourself." Robinson never amended her answer and never mentioned that she pled nolo contendere in a criminal proceeding less than a year before signing the questionnaire form. She was selected as one of the jurors and became the forewoman of the jury that convicted Johnston of first-degree murder.

Johnston v. State, 841 So. 2d 349, 355-356 (Fla. 2003).

In the case of *Roberts v. Tejada*, 814 So. 2d 334, 342 (Fla. 2002), this Court vacated a decision from the 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA reinstating a verdict, wisely reasoning that "Lawyers representing clients in litigation are entitled to ask, and receive truthful and complete responses to, the relevant questions which they pose to

prospective jurors." *Roberts* cites to another case from this Court, *Zequeira v. De La Rosa*, 659 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1995) and reminds that "a juror's nondisclosure need not be intentional to constitute concealment." *Roberts* at 343. *Roberts* mentions the dissenting opinion from the 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA's opinion in *Zequiera* that was approved and adopted by the Florida Supreme Court,<sup>1</sup> which opined that even if a juror did not intentionally mislead or conceal, the omission still prevented counsel from having all necessary information to make an informed choice during *voir dire*. In *Roberts*, this Court reversed *Tejada v. Roberts*, 760 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2000), a decision by the 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA that reinstated a jury verdict notwithstanding juror nondisclosure.

Procedurally, in *Roberts*, Ms. Roberts lost at trial in a wrongful death lawsuit against her husband's doctors, but was successful in her motion for new trial in circuit court due to juror nondisclosure of prior litigation history during *voir dire*. The 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA reversed the trial court's award of a new trial and reinstated the verdict.<sup>2</sup> This Court reversed the 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA's decision in that case. Though the procedural history of these cases is complex, the law in this area is crystal clear: "It is clear that nondisclosure along with partial or inaccurate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The dissent from Zequiera v. De La Rosa, 627 So. 2d 531 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1993) was adopted by the Florida Supreme Court in De La Rosa v. Zequiera, 659 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1995).

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Tejada v. Roberts, 760 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2000).

disclosure is concealment in the voir dire process" (*Roberts*, *Id.* at 345-346) which warrants a new trial. *Zequiera* was good law for Mr. Johnston at the time of this trial, it is *still* good law, and the case law warrants immediate relief.

Not only did juror Robinson mislead and conceal her arrest record, but she misled and concealed information that could have led to her arrest in the courthouse at the time of serving on the jury. Juror Robinson had an active *capias* that stemmed from her own criminal case, and she failed to reveal this information when questioned directly in *voir dire*. Had all of this information been revealed to the defense, they could have made a fully informed choice concerning whether to strike Ms. Robinson in light of her own criminal case and *capias*.

Presumably, juror Robinson was aware that she had failed to pay court costs on her own criminal case, and that she faced possible arrest.<sup>3</sup> That is really the only possible explanation for her nondisclosure and concealment. Knowing that she would be jeopardizing her own freedom by answering truthfully in response to the State's questions, she gave the false impression that she herself had never been arrested. Had defense counsel simply asked her a direct question (i.e. "Have you ever been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Although the record does not contain specific evidence that juror Robinson had personal knowledge of the *capias*, due to the recency of her plea to the Johnston trial and court-ordered financial obligations that followed the plea, Ray Johnston submits that she would have known and did know of the *capias*.

arrested, Ms. Robinson?"; or rather, "Was your answer to the prosecutor's question complete, Ms. Robinson, was anyone else, and I hate to sound meddlesome, but, even yourself, ever accused?"), her history would have been revealed (if she told the truth) and she would have been taken into custody on the *capias* and not allowed to serve as forewoman on the jury. This is the same juror who was arrested for possessing crack cocaine and burning marijuana following the guilt phase portion of the trial. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to question juror Robinson further in *voir dire*. Additionally, defense counsel was ineffective under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) for failing to raise the specific issue of deliberate failure to disclose at the trial level.

Additionally, appellate counsel was ineffective for failure to cite fundamental error for this issue on direct appeal. As such, this crucial issue was unavailable on direct appeal, and this Court effectively referred the issue for postconviction. This Court stated as follows on direct appeal:

Johnston next asserts that he is entitled to a new trial because juror Robinson deliberately failed to pled nolo contendere that disclose she to а misdemeanor charge within the past year. Appellate concedes that defense counsel failed counsel to specifically raise this claim with the trial court. As this specific ground for a new trial was not raised with the lower court, it will not be considered on To the extent that Johnston is claiming his appeal. counsel was ineffective, we find that this issue should be addressed in a rule 3.850 motion-not on

direct appeal.

Johnston v. State, 841 So. 2d 349, 357 (Fla. 2003)

Regarding the issue of ineffective *voir dire*, Mr. Registrato could not remember if he was the attorney who followed the prosecutor's inquiry of Ms. Robinson.

Q: I want to ask you if you remember following Mr. Pruner's inquiry of Ms. Robinson, was it you or Mr. Littman who stepped up next to inquire of the panel? A: I don't remember.

Vol. LVIII PCR 1312.

If Mr. Registrato could not remember if he was the attorney questioning Ms. Robinson, obviously he could not remember any strategic reason for not asking follow-up questions of Ms. Robinson. Nevertheless, he attempted to supply a strategic reason for not conducting follow-up questioning of Ms. Robinson after the State had inquired about her response on the questionnaire: "That's not something you would ordinarily do. You don't want - you don't want to irritate them on purpose." [Vol. LVIII PCR 1313]. This type of *post-hoc* rationalization is the type condemned by the United States Supreme Court in *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510 (2003).

When viewed in this light, the 'strategic decision' the state courts and respondents all invoke to justify counsel's limited pursuit of mitigating evidence resembles more a *post hoc* rationalization of counsel's conduct than an accurate description of their deliberations prior to sentencing.

Wiggins at 526-527.

Kenn Littman's answer to the question of why no follow-up questioning of juror Robinson was conducted following the State's brief inquiry was more accurate. Kenn Littman stated the following during the evidentiary hearing:

Q. And my question was at the time of jury selection, taking you back to that very moment, was there any reason while the trial team failed to do any follow-up questioning of juror Robinson on the issue concerning criminal histories?

A. No. I don't -- I would only be speculating since I don't even recall which of us asked the questions. Typically the State wouldn't want someone on the jury who had anyone close to them with a criminal history, whose been prosecuted or had been prosecuted. So that's about all I can tell you. I don't remember.

Vol. LIX PCR 1427.

The record in this case reflects that Kenn Littman followed in voir dire examination prosecutor Jay Pruner of the prospective jurors. A recess was taken between Mr. Pruner and Mr. Littman's voir dire examination Vol. VII R 166-167. Neither Mr. Littman nor Mr. Registrato testified at the evidentiary hearing that they came to a strategic decision to refrain from asking follow-up questions of Ms. Robinson during the recess or during Mr. Pruner's voir dire. Mr. Registrato immediately followed Mr. Littman, with no breaks taken in between see Vol. VII R. 209-211. Just as trial counsel was ineffective for their "limited pursuit of mitigating evidence" in Wiggins, trial

counsel was ineffective in the case at bar for their limited pursuit of crucial information concerning juror Robinson's arrest record during *voir dire*. There was no strategy involved in failing to ask the necessary follow-up questions of juror Robinson.

But in fairness to trial counsel, it certainly appears that juror Robinson was actively concealing the truth in voir dire, and everyone in the courtroom was duped by Ms. Robinson's evasive and incomplete answers. As stated in *Roberts v. Tejada*, 814 So. 2d 334, 342 (Fla. 2002), "Lawyers representing clients in litigation are entitled to ask, and receive truthful and complete responses to, the relevant questions which they pose to prospective jurors." Counsel did not get the benefit of a truthful and complete answer in the case at bar.

Capital attorneys do have to ask pertinent and careful questions during voir dire to help them gain the knowledge they need to exclude inappropriate jurors. Professor Steven Lubet of Northwestern University School of Law has stated, "[d]uring jury selection, even when it is conducted solely by the court, it is possible to learn directly from the jurors themselves. If this precious opportunity is to be preserved, lawyers must use it wisely and fairly." Steven Lubet, Modern Trial Advocacy: Analysis and Practice, (National Institute for Trial Advocacy,

 $2^{nd}$  Ed. 1997), 505. "In systems where lawyer participation is permitted, voir dire must be planned as carefully as any other aspect of the trial. [The] areas of inquiry must be designed to obtain the maximum amount of information without overstepping the boundaries set by the court." *Id.* at 511. "[The] first goal, therefore, should be to assure your client a fair trial by identifying those potential jurors who, for whatever reason, cannot be objective about your client's case." Id. at 516. "...[I]t is essential to regard voir dire as [the] best. opportunity to begin to develop a positive relationship with the jury." Id. at 524. The trial attorneys in this case did not maximize the amount of information available in voir dire. Thev did not ask the necessary follow-up questions of juror Robinson, allowing a foreperson to sit on the jury who personally assured the State the following during voir dire of the following:

MR. PRUNER: Can you promise me now at this stage that you will not hold us to a higher standard, require us to show you beyond all doubt. MS. ROBINSON: Yeah.

Vol. VII R 101.

Given her unique precarious personal legal situation, Ms. Robinson could not have sat on the jury and deliberated objectively. Under active *capias* status, she assured the State she would not hold them to a high burden of proof, and then she sat as foreperson and signed a verdict of guilty within one

hour. Under *Lowrey v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1367 (Fla. 1998) and *Reese v. State*, 739 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1999), prejudice is "inherent" (*Lowrey*, *Id.* at 1368, and *Reese*, *Id.* at 121) when a juror who is under prosecution by the same state attorney's office serves on the jury. To exacerbate the juror misconduct and nondisclosure situation, shortly after the commencement of the penalty phase, juror Robinson was arrested on drug charges.

Several components of counsel's handling of voir dire were unreasonable and ineffective. Counsel did no further questioning of juror Robinson apparently because the prosecutor asked "many of [the] things I might have asked." Vol. VII R 170. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel could offer no reasonable explanation for failing to follow up on questioning with prospective juror Robinson. At a minimum, counsel clearly should have turned to the three components of the question on the jury form: "have [1] you or [2] any member of your immediate family or [3] any close friend been accused of a crime." Juror Robinson's answer on the form would have allowed clear follow-up by inquiring as to the other and highly significant component of whether she, herself, had ever been accused of a crime.

Although trial counsel was ineffective for failing to follow through with further questions, the information concerning Mr. Robinson's prior arrest record was revealed only after she was arrested on new charges one day into the penalty

phase, after she had signed the guilt phase verdict form as foreperson.

## <u>The Motions for new trial failed to cite to juror Tracy</u> Robinson's deliberate non-disclosure

At the evidentiary hearing, three reasons surfaced why the specific issue of juror non-disclosure was not raised at the trial level following the verdict: 1) public defender office turnover, 2) oversight, and 3) ineffective assistance of counsel.

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