IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY LAMAR JOHNSTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-780 L.T. No. CR97-13379 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF RULE 3.851 MOTION TO VACATE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly denied Johnston's IAC/guilt and penalty phase claims under *Strickland*. The trial court set forth detailed factual findings which are supported by competent, substantial evidence. Inasmuch as no procedural or substantive errors have been shown with regard to the factual findings or the trial court's application of the relevant legal principles, no relief is warranted and this Court should affirm the trial court's order denying post-conviction relief.

Johnston's attempt to resurrect his substantive claim of juror Robinson's alleged non-disclosure, held procedurally barred on direct appeal, remains procedurally barred in post-conviction. Moreover, defense counsel, as a matter of trial strategy, wanted to keep juror Robinson on the jury panel because she fit the profile (young/minority) recommended by the defense-retained jury consultant after Johnston's mock trial.

Trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to seek suppression of Johnston's pre-*Miranda* statements to law enforcement. Johnston was not "in custody" when he volunteered his statements, his exculpatory statements were not taken in violation of *Miranda*, the admission of Johnston's statements during the guilt phase enabled the defense to explain Johnston's possession of the victim's ATM card without subjecting Johnston

to cross-examination and disclosure of his numerous felony convictions, and Johnston's statements to law enforcement were cumulative to his similar taped statements to the press, which were also admitted at trial.

The trial court correctly denied Johnston's additional IAC sub-claims after several days of evidentiary hearings. The fact that Diane Busch had \$10,000 in cash is irrelevant to Johnston's well-documented meager financial circumstances. Moreover, the fact that Johnston "shook" up people during Ms. Busch's hospitalization in the summer of 1997 is hardly mitigating when juxtaposed against the brutal murder of Leanne Coryell during that same summer. Dr. Cole's proffered testimony was irrelevant and inadmissible. All of the members of the defense team at trial and the mental health experts who contemporaneously evaluated Johnston at the time of trial refute any claim of Johnston's alleged impairment by psychotropic medication.

Trial counsel, with 20+ years of experience, was not ineffective in failing to conduct individual *voir dire*. The trial court correctly summarily denied the remaining postconviction claims. The trial court's comprehensive orders detailed its fact-specific rationale and attached those portions of the record that refute the defendant's claims.

THE Strickland STANDARDS AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The majority of the issues raised in this post-conviction appeal involve claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and these IAC sub-claims were denied after the multi-day evidentiary hearings. In *Bradley v. State*, 2010 WL 26522, 3 (Fla. 2010), this Court summarized the following standards of review applicable to these IAC claims:

. . . the test when assessing the actions of trial counsel is not how, in hindsight, present counsel would have proceeded. See Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995). On the contrary, a claim for ineffective assistance of trial counsel must satisfy two criteria. First, counsel's performance must be shown to be deficient. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Deficient performance in this context means that counsel's performance fell below the standard guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Id. When examining counsel's performance, an objective standard of reasonableness applies, id. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, and great deference is given to counsel's performance. Id. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. The defendant bears the burden presumption that, to "overcome the under the challenged circumstances, the action `might be considered sound trial strategy.'" Id. (quoting Michel v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 101, 76 S.Ct. 158, 100 L.Ed. 83 (1955)). This Court has made clear that "[s]trategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel." See Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). There is a strong presumption that trial ineffective. counsel's performance was not See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 669, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Second, the deficient performance must have prejudiced the defendant, ultimately depriving the defendant of a fair trial with a reliable result. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. A defendant must do more than speculate that an error

affected the outcome. Id. at 693, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Prejudice is met only if there is a reasonable probability that "but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Both deficient performance and prejudice must be shown. Id. Because both prongs of the Strickland test present mixed questions of law and fact, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo. See Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766, 771-72 (Fla.2004).

Bradley, 2010 WL 26522.

The above-cited standards of review apply to all of the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in the Appellant/Defendant's Initial Brief.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE IAC/GUILT PHASE CLAIM (BASED ON JUROR TRACY ROBINSON)

On direct appeal, Johnston v. State, 841 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 2002), this Court (1) ruled that juror Robinson was not statutorily disqualified from serving on the jury, (2) declined to consider the claim of Robinson's alleged "deliberate failure" to disclose her misdemeanor plea because this specific ground was not raised in the motion for new trial, and (3) agreed that the trial court was correct to deny Johnston's motion to interview juror Robinson, which was based on mere speculation. In his first post-conviction issue, Johnston attempts to resurrect his unsuccessful direct appeal and bootstrap a procedurally-barred "juror non-disclosure" claim onto his claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The ONLY claim which is cognizable in post-conviction is the IAC/quilt phase claim. Moreover, Johnston cannot prevail on his IAC claim because, among other things, Robinson's alleged non-disclosure during voir dire was not material in this case and trial counsel strategically wanted to keep Juror Robinson on the jury panel -- Robinson fit the profile for the type of juror (young/minority) recommended by their own jury consultant after Johnston's mock trial.

Any claim of juror non-disclosure/juror misconduct is procedurally barred in post-conviction. *Elledge v. State*, 911 So. 2d 57, 77 n.27 (Fla. 2005); *Happ v. Moore*, 784 So. 2d 1091, 1094 & n.3 (Fla. 2001). Moreover, the juror non-disclosure claim was raised on direct appeal and *denied as procedurally barred*:

Johnston next asserts that he is entitled to a new trial because juror Robinson deliberately failed to disclose that she pled nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge within the past year. Appellate counsel concedes that defense counsel failed to specifically raise this claim with the trial court. As this specific ground for a new trial was not raised with the lower court, it will not be considered on appeal. [FN8] To the extent that Johnston is claiming his counsel was ineffective, we find that this issue should be addressed in a rule 3.850 motion-not on direct appeal. [FN9]

Johnston, 841 So. 2d at 357 (e.s.) (footnotes omitted)

The substantive claim of juror Robinson's alleged nondisclosure, held procedurally barred on direct appeal, remains procedurally barred in post-conviction. Moreover, Johnston's alleged "fundamental error" argument likewise must fail. As this Court emphasized in *Carratelli v. State*, 961 So. 2d 312, 325 (Fla. 2007), "if an appellate court refuses to consider unpreserved error, then by definition the error could not have been fundamental." And, as this Court has further explained, an error constitutes fundamental error when it deprives the defendant of his due process right to a fair trial. *See Jackson*

v. State, 983 So. 2d 562, 575 (Fla. 2008); Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 898-99 (Fla. 2000). Since the standard for prejudice under Strickland and the standard for fundamental error both look at whether a defendant was deprived of a fair trial, the trial court did not err in denying Johnston's IAC claim of prejudice.

Johnston's IAC/quilt phase claim asserts that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to (1) question Juror Tracy Robinson about her response on the juror questionnaire and (2) include a claim of Robinson's alleged "deliberate failure to disclose" in Johnston's amended motion for new trial. This IAC/quilt phase claim was denied after an evidentiary hearing. The trial court entered a detailed, fact-specific order denying this postconviction claim (PCR V16/3104-3115) and found, inter alia, that (1) Ms. Robinson was not statutorily disqualified from serving on the jury, (2) Johnston failed to present any evidence that he advised anyone on the trial team that he wanted to request a new trial based on juror Robinson's deliberate failure to disclose that she pled *nolo contendere* to a misdemeanor charge within the preceding year, (3) Ms. Robinson did not deliberately lie about the existence of the prior misdemeanor, but failed to disclose such information and the failure to disclose was not material to the extent of warranting a new trial, (4) based on trial counsel Ken Littman's testimony, the fact that Ms. Robinson had pled nolo

contendere within a year before the trial to a misdemeanor of obstructing or opposing an officer was <u>not</u> something the defense would have raised in the motions because she was a young, African-American female who fit the young, minority juror profile recommended by Dr. Harvey Moore, the individual who conducted Johnston's mock trial, (5) even after Ms. Robinson was arrested between the guilt and penalty phases, the defense team still wanted her to remain on the jury for the penalty phase, and (6) Johnston failed to demonstrate how he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to include juror Robinson's alleged deliberate failure to disclose her *nolo contendere* plea to a misdemeanor charge as such information was not material to the extent of warranting a new trial. The trial court's order denying this post-conviction IAC/guilt phase claim (Claim 2/Supplement to Claim 2) states, in pertinent part:

* * *

When asked if he [Mr. Registrato] ever, at the time Ms. Robinson was being questioned, stopped and considered that possibly she had been arrested herself at some time in the past, he responded in negative, and further elaborated as follows:

REGISTRATO: I can't imagine why I would have thought that, Judge. I mean, she gave an answer. I can't imagine why I would sit there and say, well, I wonder if she has a bad record. Or I wonder if she has something in her past that she's not telling us outside of the general - - I mean, these jurors in these death cases are questioned and are gone over way, way more thoroughly than in most other cases. And it was a very, very thorough - - it was a very thorough job on all of these - - on all of these jurors. As I was saying, the - the conventional wisdom is the prosecutor is going to ask them about their past. Let him be the bad guy. I don't need to get up there and start alienating these jurors. Let him do it and he did it. And, no, we wouldn't have done that, sir. We'd be - - it would be work of a novice to do that.

(See January 31, 2008, transcript, pps. 752-754, attached).

On cross-examination, he [Mr. Registrato] testified juror Tracey Robinson was an acceptable juror to the defense. (See January 31, 2008, transcript, p. 775, attached). He further testified that even if he knew that within a year before the trial, juror Tracey Robinson pleaded nolo contendere to a misdemeanor, that would not have made a huge impact for them regarding her qualification as a juror or her acceptability to the defense. (See January 31, 2008, transcript, pps. 775-776, attached). He further elaborated as follows:

REGISTRATO: It would not have had a big impact on the defense, because again, conventional wisdom would have been that that - - that would - - that would have been a reason for the State to not want her on there, for sure. You know, you have somebody who is at least in some respect in conflict with law enforcement, in conflict with the state attorney. You know, it would be somebody that they would not want on it. It would not have had a big impact on the defense, I don't think.

(See January 31, 2008, transcript, pps. 777-778, attached).

Mr. Littman testified that anyone that Defendant did not like was stricken, if not for cause, then peremptorily. (See January 31, 2008, transcript, p.

920, attached). He further testified that because Ms. Robinson was a young African-American woman, she fit the profile of a young, minority juror that was recommended by Dr. Harvey Moore who conducted the mock trial. (See January 31, 2008, transcript, pps. 919-920, He also testified that the fact that Ms. attached). Robinson had pled nolo contendere within a year before the trial to a misdemeanor of obstructing or opposing an officer would not have caused him to strike her because she fit the profile of people they were looking for and typically the prosecutor tries to strike people that have prior involvement with the law. (See January 2008, transcript, pps. 920-92 1, attached). 31, He further testified that even after she was arrested between the guilt and penalty phase, Mr. Hooper opposed her removal from the jury because the defense team still wanted her on the jury. (See January 31, 2008, transcript, p. 921, attached).

After reviewing this portion of claim 2, the testimony, evidence, and argument presented at the January 28, 2008, January 29, 2008, January 30, 2008, January 31, 2008, February 1, 2008, March 6, 2008, and March 7, 2008, evidentiary hearings, the written the notice closing arguments, of supplemental authority, the applicable law, the court file, and the record, the Court finds "[g]enerally, a person is statutorily disqualified from serving on the jury if he or she is under prosecution for a crime. § 40.013(1), Fla. Stat. (1999) ('No person who is under prosecution for any crime...shall be disqualified to serve as a juror.')." Johnston v. State, 841 So. 2d 349, 356-57 (Fla. 2002). However, on direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court found the following:

Robinson's criminal charges were resolved prior to jury selection and the only outstanding item was payment of the fine. Although she was threatened with arrest for the failure to pay the fine, it is undisputed that this involved civil contempt charges, as opposed to criminal charges. Robinson did not commit a criminal offense when she failed to pay her fine and, accordingly, was not statutorily disqualified from serving on the jury. *Id.* at 357. Therefore, Ms. Robinson was not statutorily disqualified from serving on the jury.

Court further finds The Defendant failed to present any evidence that he advised anyone on the defense trial team that he did not want Ms. Robinson on Additionally, based on Mr. Ken Littman's the jury. testimony, the fact that Ms. Robinson had pled nolo contendere within a year before the trial to а misdemeanor of obstructing or opposing an officer would not have caused him to strike her because she was a young, African-American female who fit the young, minority juror profile recommended by Dr. Harvey Moore, the individual who conducted the mock trial. (See State's exhibit #2, attached). The Court also finds further support in Mr. Littman's statement because even after she was arrested between the guilt and penalty phases, the defense team still wanted her to remain on the jury for the penalty phase. Therefore, the Court finds Defendant failed to demonstrate how he was prejudiced by counsel's alleged failure to question Ms. on Robinson about her responses the juror questionnaire. As such, no relief is warranted upon this portion of claim 2.

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